

San Jose State University SJSU ScholarWorks

Master's Theses

Master's Theses and Graduate Research

2008

Positive and negative effects of intertidal algal canopies on fucoid recruitment

Amber Ilona Szoboszlai San Jose State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd theses

Recommended Citation

Szoboszlai, Amber Ilona, "Positive and negative effects of intertidal algal canopies on fucoid recruitment" (2008). *Master's Theses*. 3504. DOI: https://doi.org/10.31979/etd.6fb3-tsm4 https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd_theses/3504

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses and Graduate Research at SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.

POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE EFFECTS OF INTERTIDAL ALGAL CANOPIES ON FUCOID RECRUITMENT

A Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

San Jose State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

by

Amber Ilona Szoboszlai

May 2008

UMI Number: 1458124

INFORMATION TO USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleed-through, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI Microform 1458124 Copyright 2008 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> ProQuest LLC 789 E. Eisenhower Parkway PO Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

© 2008

Amber Ilona Szoboszlai

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

APPROVED FOR MOSS LANDING MARINE LABORATORIES

Dr. Michael Graham Associate Professor of Marine Ecology Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Se. Shin.

Dr. Erika McPhee-Shaw Assistant Professor of Physical Oceanography Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Diana Stelles

Dr. Diana Steller Research Affiliate Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

APPROVED FOR THE UNIVERSITY.

Pheal Williamson 04/02/08

ABSTRACT

POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE EFFECTS OF INTERTIDAL ALGAL CANOPIES ON FUCOID RECRUITMENT

by Amber I. Szoboszlai

Positive and negative factors associated with intertidal algal cover can modify juvenile survival of the fucoid alga *Pelvetiopsis limitata*. *Pelvetiopsis* recruits <1cm high were counted monthly in different treatments of dominant algal species for one year in Central California. Density of *Pelvetiopsis* juveniles varied as a function of algal cover: survival was enhanced at intermediate levels of algal cover, and reduced at very low and high levels. High densities of *Pelvetiopsis* juveniles and grazers co-occurred, suggesting grazers do not control post-settlement survival. The strong association between the ephemeral alga *Porphyra perforata* and survival of *Pelvetiopsis* juveniles emphasized the potential for individual species to structure the system. These relationships suggest that in stressful systems, habitat modification by algae can facilitate algal recruitment by modifying the microhabitat. However, as algal cover increases and physiological stress levels are reduced, the positive effects of algal cover are replaced by negative, competitive interactions among species.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The support of my family, my committee, my friends, and the students, staff, and faculty of Moss Landing Marine Laboratories were integral to the completion of this work. Lajos Szoboszlai and my family provided constant support, encouragement, and enthusiasm for my endeavors. Gala Wagner-Haskins, field assistant extraordinaire, was always game for a jaunt to the intertidal. Students in the Phycology lab and the BEERPIGS (Benthic Ecology and Experimental Research, Phycology in General) study group assisted me with field work, project critiques, steady support, and thoughtful guidance of this project from inception to completion. Dr. Michael Graham's infectious enthusiasm for scientific inquiry motivated me to pursue research in the field of seaweed population ecology. Dr. Erika McPhee-Shaw offered great insight on how physical factors may influence seaweed population dynamics. Dr. Diana Steller helped me to understand the entire system, and her suggestions improved the design and presentation of this research. Additional conversations with Michael Foster, David Schiel, Sean Connell, and John Pearse helped to solidify my ideas about the role of intertidal algae in nearshore ecosystems. This project was inspired by my involvement with the National Science Foundation research grant "Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning in Intertidal Seaweed Communities." This research was supported by funds from San Jose State University (College of Science Dean's Scholarship, Harvey Research Fellowship, Arthur & Karin Nelson Scholarship), Moss Landing Marine Laboratories (Martha Johnston Memorial Scholarship, Departmental Lottery Funds), The Phycological Society of America (Grant in Aid of

v

Research, Hoshaw Travel Award), The Packard Foundation, and the National Science Foundation, Biological Oceanography Grant 0351345.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Introduction	. 1
Methods	10
Results	23
Discussion	42
Conclusions	51
Literature Cited	52
Appendix A. ANOVA and variance components analysis for water flow	62
Appendix B. ANOVA tables describing the effects of different factors	63

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE P	AGE
Table 1. Positive and negative effects of key algal species on Pelvetiopsis	
recruitment	8
Table 2. Pelvetiopsis reproductive state rating scheme	18
Table 3. Analysis of variance results for monthly recruitment and total biotic	
cover data	27
Table 4. Cumulative and mean Pelvetiopsis recruitment	28
Table 5. Mean temperature and light levels under different types of algal cover	
and on bare rock	30
Table 6. Percentage composition and abundance of motile invertebrates	36
Table 7. Analysis of covariance results for differences in maximum recruitment	36
Table 8. Analysis of variance results for motile invertebrate data	40
Table 9. Differences in physical factors among treatment types	40

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PAGE
Figure 1. Conceptual model of the relationship between algal cover and
Pelvetiopsis recruitment 7
Figure 2. Illustration of organisms in the different treatments
Figure 3. The natural system: monthly biotic cover in the Control Plots 23
Figure 4. Local climate and maximum wave height 25
Figure 5. Monthly <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> recruitment and total biotic cover by treatment 26
a. Pelvetiopsis recruitment
b. Total biotic cover
Figure 6. Effect of biotic cover on <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> recruitment
a. Relationship between total biotic cover and <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> recruitment
b. Relationship between proximity of adult Pelvetiopsis and Pelvetiopsis
recruitment
Figure 7. Peak Pelvetiopsis recruitment: effect of treatments and their associated
biotic cover on <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> recruitment 31
Figure 8. Porphyra cover relative to Pelvetiopsis recruitment in total removal plots
during peak recruitment 32
Figure 9. <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> recruitment co-occurred with <i>Porphyra</i> cover

LIST OF FIGURES continued

FIGURE	' AGE
Figure 10. Motile invertebrate density by treatment (monthly)	. 34
a. Total limpets	
b. Lottia digitalis/Lottia paradigitalis	
c. Lottia scabra	
d. Littorina keenae + Littorina scutulata	
Figure 11. Patterns of Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis relative to biotic cover and	
Pelvetiopsis recruitment	. 38
a. Relationship between total biotic cover and Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis	·. ·
b. Relationship between Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis and Pelvetiopsis	
recruitment	

INTRODUCTION

Much of the research on species interactions in rocky intertidal systems has focused on understanding competitive interactions when bare space is a limiting resource (sensu Foster 1992). As a result, conceptual models of intertidal community structure have for the most part been dominated by competitive interactions (e.g., Bruno and Bertness 2001). In the 1960s to 1990s, marine ecologists established the role of competitive mechanisms in determining the zonation patterns evident across the steep gradient of environmental variables characteristic of intertidal habitats. By using manipulative, experimental approaches, these researchers began to disentangle competitive hierarchies among species, and developed a model wherein biological, or competitive, factors determined the lower distributional limit of individual species, and physical factors (i.e. tolerance to increasing stress) determined the upper limits (Connell 1961, 1970, Paine 1966, Dayton 1971, Menge 1976, Lubchenco 1978). Researchers also described species interactions in the lower intertidal as density dependent, where space is limiting, and density-independent in the high intertidal, where space is more readily available (e.g., Connell 1972). This model has since been updated to include the effect of variable upwelling conditions on larval supply rates, and subsequent settlement (Roughgarden et al. 1988, Connolly and Roughgarden 1998). Thus, oceanographically driven variation in larval supply can further modify competitive interactions at large spatial scales by influencing the densities of different organisms. This work has led to an improved understanding of the importance of competitive interactions relative to density dependent and density independent processes.

Marine ecologists have also employed models of succession, developed largely by terrestrial plant ecologists, to describe the sequence by which species occupy space (Connell and Slatyer 1977, Sousa 1979, 1984). Because these models often imply a predictable, steady progression to a stable state typical of terrestrial plant communities, they do not adequately characterize the role of disturbance in determining species distributions in intertidal habitats. Disturbance (e.g., winter storms, high temperatures in summer) frequently interrupts the sequence of succession in intertidal habitats (e.g., Dayton 1971, Levin and Paine 1974, Paine and Levin 1981, Sousa 1979, Dayton et al. 1984, Gaylord et al. 1994). As a result, disturbance has been recognized as a mechanism that drives the patchy distributions of intertidal organisms, with each "patch" at a different stage in successional development (Sousa 1984). Marine ecologists rely upon the succession-derived concept of facilitation to describe the sequence by which intertidal organisms re-colonize bare space following disturbance. By definition, facilitation is a process by which early successional species increase the survival of later successional species. Many studies have found that facilitative mechanisms can influence community structure, particularly when physical stress is high (Bertness and Callaway 1994, Callaway and Walker 1997, Crain and Bertness 2006, Gutiérrez et al. 2007).

As a result, ecologists have recently directed more attention toward understanding the relative roles of positive and negative factors in determining species' distributions (Holmgren et al. 1997, Bertness et al. 1999, Bruno et al. 2003). When environmental stress is high, positive interactions (i.e. facilitation) can be a primary determinant of community structure relative to negative interactions (i.e. competition, Crain and

Bertness 2006). In addition, the control of positive and negative factors on community structure can change relative to life history stages (Callaway and Walker 1997). For example, the distribution of stress-sensitive early algal life history stages may start off as a function of positive factors, with negative interactions becoming more important as they grow to adult size and compete for resources. Furthermore, individual species can act as ecosystem engineers, exerting disproportionate positive effects on community structure relative to other species (Jones et al. 1997, Wright and Jones 2006). Because the role of competitive interactions in structuring marine communities has been a paradigm of marine ecology, the inclusion of facilitation into marine ecological theory has often been in opposition to competitive interactions (Bertness et al. 1999). However, the relative roles of competitive and facilitative interactions can shift over different scales of space and time, and are not necessarily mutually exclusive (Jonnson et al. 2006, Altieri et al. 2007).

Intertidal macroalgae (hereafter algae) have a strong potential to influence community structure, given that they can be the dominant space occupiers in temperate intertidal systems. These organisms, along with subtidal algae, form the basis of nearshore marine food webs, and provide food and habitat for numerous species (e.g., Dayton 1975, Lubchenco 1978, Bustamante and Branch 1995, Thompson et al. 1996, Schiel 2004, Wieters 2005). Current research on how marine algae impact nearshore ecosystems addresses how these primary producers influence ecosystem function. By studying primary productivity (i.e. carbon assimilation), algal diversity, and key species and food web dynamics, researchers are working to define the critical role of sessile,

photosynthetic organisms in sustaining nearshore ecosystems (Schiel 2004, Bruno et al. 2005, Menge et al. 2005, Bracken and Stachowicz 2006, Lilley and Schiel 2006). In addition to providing food and habitat for other organisms, algae can influence ecological processes like succession, recruitment, and competition, as introduced above. In the intertidal, algal cover can influence species distributions by modifying both physical factors such as temperature and desiccation (Brawley and Johnson, 1991, Johnson and Brawley 1998, Schoenwaelder et al. 2003, Helmuth et al. 2006), light (Dring 1987), and water flow (Vogel 1981, Nowell 1984, Carpenter and Williams 1993, Denny 1995, Williams and Carpenter 1998, Cheroske et al. 2000, Taylor and Schiel, 2003) and biological factors including grazing and competition (Underwood and Jernakoff 1981, Bruno and O'Connor 2005) at relatively small spatial scales (i.e. 5-10 cm). Although intertidal algae are abundant and known to influence nearshore processes, the mechanisms by which they do this remain poorly understood. Furthermore, the ways in which individual species (relative to a set of diverse species) contribute to ecosystem function is largely unknown.

Algae in the order Fucales (Phaeophyceae), such as *Pelvetiopsis limitata*, are good study organisms because they are ubiquitous in temperate marine ecosystems and create the dominant biomass in intertidal areas of many cold and temperate regions (Chapman 1995, Southward et al. 1995, Serrao et al. 1999). As a result, there is a large body of research and literature that focuses on many aspects of their biology, physiology, and ecology (for a review, see Chapman 1995). Furthermore, fucoids possess a simple life history relative to other types of macroalgae: embryos develop directly from fused

gametes, as opposed to the alternating generations of gametophytes and sporophytes common to many other dominant macroalgae (van den Hoek et al. 1995). This simplified life history is amenable to developing population models, and makes fucoid algae useful as model study organisms (Schiel 2004). Researchers have already documented that fucoid algae are sensitive to a suite of environmental factors that can cause reduced growth rates, cell death, and increased juvenile mortality. These factors include physical variables (light, ultraviolet radiation, temperature, desiccation and water flow; Vadas et al. 1990, Brawley and Johnson 1991, Davison et al. 1993, Wiencke et al. 2000, Coelho et al. 2001, Haring et al. 2002, Ladah et al. 2003, Taylor and Schiel 2003, Schoenwaelder et al. 2003, Li and Brawley 2004, Coleman and Brawley 2005, Dethier et al. 2005, Holzinger and Lütz 2006), biological variables (competition and grazing; Lubchenco 1983, Johnson et al. 1998, Worm and Chapman 1998), and anthropogenic variables (human trampling and increased pollutants; De Vogelaere and Foster 1994, Schiel and Taylor 1999, Thibaut et al. 2005). Because fucoids are abundant, well-studied, have a simplified algal life history, and are sensitive to environmental variables, they provide a model study organism for understanding how key species and positive interactions affect the ecology of nearshore marine ecosystems. By concentrating research on key Fucalean species, we can clarify the mechanisms by which intertidal algae contribute to intertidal ecosystem structure and function.

Many types of fucoid algae (e.g., the genera *Fucus*, *Pelvetiopsis*, *Silvetia*, *Pelvetia*, *Ascophyllum*, and *Hesperophycus* in the Northern hemisphere, and *Hormosira* and *Durvillea* in the Southern hemisphere) occur in areas where stress levels can be high,

such as the mid to upper intertidal. Additionally, they generally occur in zones where bare space may not be a limiting resource, a premise of the competitive theory. As a result, these genera are particularly useful model organisms for understanding how positive interactions may impact species distributions. Previous researchers have found that survival of small life history stages (i.e. post-settlement recruitment) is the most critical time during population development of intertidal fucoid algae (Brawley and Johnson 1991, Johnson and Brawley 1998, Schiel 2004). Not only is this stage particularly sensitive to environmental variables and grazing (Brawley et al 1999, Wiencke et al. 2000, Ladah et al. 2003), but intertidal fucoid algae are also understood to have high fertilization rates and limited dispersal (Bellgrove et al. 1997, Brawley et al. 1999, Berndt et al. 2002, Kinlan and Gaines 2003, Schiel 2004). Therefore postsettlement recruitment has been identified as an important topic for further research (Brawley et al. 1999, Schiel 2004). Pelvetiopsis limitata (Setchell) Gardner is a common, dominant species of fucoid algae found in the high intertidal habitats of exposed rocky shores from British Columbia, Canada to central California (Abbott and Hollenberg 1976). Improving our understanding of this key species and what affects its distribution and survival will enhance our ability to predict (1) the role of algae in structuring nearshore ecosystems, (2) by which mechanisms individual algal species contribute to the increased ecosystem function associated with higher levels of diversity, and (3) the relative roles of positive and negative factors in determining species distributions in stressful habitats.

Conceptual models can help us to better understand the population dynamics of key species living in stressful environments. By examining how the presence of algal cover and species identity affects the survival of recruits of a key species (i.e. *Pelvetiopsis*), we can better predict the context of when algae will influence the outcome of ecological interactions in nearshore ecosystems. To understand the potential positive and negative effects of algal cover on post-settlement recruitment of *Pelvetiopsis*, it is necessary to clarify the positive and negative factors associated with different levels of algal cover and different species of dominant algae. Positive and negative effects will vary with increases in algal cover (Fig. 1). If algal cover has a positive effect on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, recruitment will increase as algal cover increases (facilitative); if the effect is negative, recruitment will decrease as algal cover increases (inhibitive).

Pelvetiopsis Recruitment



Low Algal Cover

High Algal Cover

The relationship between algal cover and recruitment could also vary as a function of algal cover, resulting in an interactive effect such that low levels of cover are positive (i.e. facilitative), and high levels of cover are negative (i.e. competitive). The positive and negative effects of algae on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment based on species identity are outlined in Table 1. This table highlights how the biogenic structure of the two dominant

Fig. 1. Conceptual model of the relationship between algal cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Algal cover can have positive (i.e. facilitative) effects, negative (i.e. inhibitive) effects, or interactive (positive and negative) effects on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment.

algae in this system, *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia muricata* (Endlichter) J. Agardh, modify light, temperature, humidity, and abrasion as individuals or in combination. The comparison between single species and two species in combination provides for the consideration of the what happens to *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment when more than one species is present. Together, these two models of how variability in algal cover and species composition may impact *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment provide a framework for understanding how positive and negative factors influence species distributions.

	Treatment Type					
Effect	Pelvetiopsis Endocladia		Pelvetiopsis + Endocladia	Bare Rock		
Positive		-				
	Propagule supply High humidity Low temperature	Low abrasion High humidity	Generally interactive	Abundant bare space Abundant light		
Negative	Reduced light Abrasion	Reduced light No propagule supply	Less available substrate for settling organisms Reduced light	Low humidity High temperature		

Table I.	Positive and	Negative Effects	of Key.	Algal Spec	les on Pe	elvetiops	is recruitment
the second s			the second s				

The primary objective of this study was to explore how algal cover influences the patterns and distribution of the alga *Pelvetiopsis* in the high intertidal zone. Natural algal cover composition was manipulated in plots to include either a single species or a combination of species and monthly *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was measured for one year. I tested the hypothesis that *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment would vary based on (1) algal species identity (i.e., in areas with only *Pelvetiopsis* cover vs. areas with only *Endocladia* cover) and (2) the number of species present (i.e., in areas with one species vs. areas with *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia*). The study addresses how the biogenic structure of algae influences patterns of macroalgal distribution by modifying the biotic and abiotic factors that affect small algal life history stages. It is vital to understand how small-scale variability in these factors influences algal survival because these processes likely affect

patterns of algal distribution and diversity. Because algal diversity is intimately linked to invertebrate diversity and abundance, this information will help describe how small-scale processes that affect algae can impact and potentially structure higher trophic levels, thereby impacting ecosystem-level processes. This type of information is useful for incorporating experimental marine ecology into coastal management and conservation (Castilla 2000).

METHODS

Study site

This study was conducted at Soberanes Point, an exposed rocky shore habitat located on the central California coast, approximately ten miles south of Monterey, CA in Garrapata State Park and the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (Latitude 36°26.871', Longitude -121°55.723'). The rocky substratum at this site is primarily the metamorphic rock horneblende-biotite-quartz diorite (granodiorite) and is highly resistant to erosion (Rosenberg 2001).

Study organisms

This project focused on two species of algae ubiquitous to the upper intertidal of the temperate Pacific coast: *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia*. These species comprise the majority (50-70%) of algal cover in this zone at the study site. *Pelvetiopsis limitata* is a brown alga in the order Fucales, and is similar to other fucoid algae that locally include *Fucus gardneri* and *Silvetia compressa*. The thallus of *Pelvetiopsis* is upright, 4-10 cm tall, and with slightly thick (5mm) branches. This alga is monoecious, with male and female gametangia found on the same thallus; liberation of sperm and eggs is followed by fertilization, and the resulting zygotes develop directly into new diploid thalli. It ranges in distribution from Vancouver Island, British Columbia to San Luis Obispo, California, and is common to exposed surf zones (Abbott and Hollenberg 1976). Development of reproductive tissue (conceptacles found at the tips of branches) is thought to occur during the late spring to summer months (D. Steller, pers. comm.). *Endocladia muricata* is a red alga with a short, 4-8 cm tall, profusely branched thallus and exhibits an alternation of

isomorphic generations. *Endocladia muricata* is common in the mid-upper intertidal from Alaska to Baja California, Mexico (Abbott and Hollenberg 1976).

The upper intertidal zone at this exposed study site is characterized by a patchy distribution of organisms and bare space. Other common species include the study organisms, the algae *Porphyra perforata* J. Agardh and *Mastocarpus papillatus* (C. Agardh) Kützing, and several invertebrates: the mussel *Mytilus californianus* Conrad, 1837, barnacles (*Pollicipes polymerus* Sowerby, 1833, *Balanus glandula* Darwin, 1854, *Chthamalus fissus* Darwin, 1854, *Chthamalus dalli* Pilsbry 1916 (combined due to morphological similarity), *Tetraclita rubescens* Darwin, 1854, *Anthopleura elegantissima* (Brandt, 1835), *Littorina scutulata* Gould, 1849/*Littorina plena* Gould, 1849 (combined due to morphological similarity), *Littorina keenae* Rosewater, 1978, a suite of limpets from the genus *Lottia (Lottia digitalis* Rathke 1833, *Lottia paradigitalis* Fritchman 1960, *Lottia austrodigitalis*, *Lottia pelta* Rathke 1833, and *Lottia scabra* Gould 1846), chitons and other gastropods and crustaceans.

Experimental design

In this experiment I manipulated algal cover to test its effect on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment in the absence of sessile, habitat-forming invertebrates. I tested the hypothesis that *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was higher within areas of *Endocladia* canopies than within areas of *Pelvetiopsis* canopies. This hypothesis was based on (1) the field observation that *Pelvetiopsis* recruits appeared to be associated with the presence of *Endocladia* and (2) previous research on the association of *S. compressa* recruits with *Endocladia* (Brawley and Johnson 1991, Johnson and Brawley 1998). To understand the

effect of multi-species algal cover on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, I tested the hypothesis that *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment would vary between areas with only a single species present and areas with *Endocladia* and *Pelvetiopsis* growing in combination. This hypothesis was non-directional, and was based on the understanding that the presence of multiple species in combination can have both positive effects (i.e. increased propagule supply (*Pelvetiopsis* presence) and increased suitable habitat (*Endocladia* canopy)) and negative effects (i.e. less substrate available for recruitment because algal species occupy more space when grown in combination).

During the experiment I established and monitored 50 0.5m-diameter circular plots (area= 0.2 m^2) in the high intertidal in the zone exposed when the tidal height dropped below +2.0 feet above mean sea level. Plots were positioned in areas where both *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia* were present, and had >50% combined total algal cover at the beginning of the study. The 50 plots consisted of 10 replicates of 5 plot types: an unmanipulated control and four treatments: a *Pelvetiopsis*-only plot, an *Endocladia*-only plot, a *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plot, and a complete removal plot (Fig. 2). These plots were arranged in a randomized blocked experimental design to account for variability due to block location (10 blocks x 5 types of plot = 50 plots); treatments were randomly assigned within each block and distances among blocks ranged from 0.5 – 15.0 m. The use of a blocked experimental design can help detect patterns by accounting for unexplained heterogeneity in the environment. In this experiment, potential sources of



Fig. 2. Illustration of organisms in the different treatments. A. Control plots. B. *Endocladia* plots. C. *Pelvetiopsis* plots. D. *Pelvetiopsis+Endocladia* plots, dashed line indicates cross-sectional view from point A to B, illustrating the three-dimensionality of the algal canopies. E. Total removal plots. Plot diameter = 0.5m (area $= 0.2m^2$).

small-scale heterogeneity included exposure to waves (both wave forces and wave direction) and gradients in herbivore abundances associated with wave exposure, as well as unknown factors.

To establish the different treatments, all sessile invertebrates (including *Mytilus*) californianus, Pollicipes polymerus, Balanus glandula > 3mm diameter, Tetraclita rubescens, Chthamalus spp. and Anthopleura elegantissima) were removed by scraping, along with all algal species except those designated by the treatment. Encrusting species of algae were left untouched because there was no effective method to remove them entirely. In addition, the complete removal plots were scraped then burned with a blow torch to ensure removal of microscopic fucoid stages. Control plots were unmanipulated, and to avoid disturbance to the natural system, sessile invertebrates were not removed from control plots. Plots were established in July-September 2005, with the exception of the complete removal plots, which were established in October/November 2005. The four types of treatment plots were "weeded" monthly to maintain the assigned treatments, except for a 2-month period in the complete removal from January 2006-March 2006 (see results). In addition to these removals, all new juvenile *Pelvetiopsis* <1 cm tall were removed from the four treatments after being counted, so that new recruitment/survival could be quantified at monthly intervals.

Monthly sampling

The 50 plots were monitored and maintained for 13 months, from October 2005-October 2006; this allowed for seasonal changes in recruitment to be measured. Each

month, measurements of total biotic percentage cover, motile invertebrate grazer composition, and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment were taken.

Total biotic cover

Percentage cover (or total biotic cover) of sessile organisms was measured monthly with a 50-point Random Point Contact (RPC) quadrat that was the same size as the circular plots (Foster et al. 1991). Total biotic cover values included only algae in the four types of treatment plots, whereas in the control plots this value also included sessile invertebrates. Any future reference to "total biotic cover" implies that this includes only algae in the treatment plots, and algae plus sessile invertebrates in the control plots. The random points on the quadrat were arranged with 5 points on each of 10 spokes. The 10 spokes were positioned from the center to the edge of the quadrat at random points between 0 and 360°, stratified within 36° intervals. Along a spoke, points were randomly stratified to achieve a spatially balanced configuration. To avoid temporal pseudoreplication, the circular quadrat was rotated each sampling period to reposition the spokes relative to a permanent side marker. Photoquadrats were taken monthly to verify RPC measurements of percentage cover.

Pelvetiopsis recruitment

To assess monthly *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, the number of individuals <1 cm tall within a plot were counted, after which these new recruits were removed except in the control plots. Therefore, recruitment in the control plots tracks the monthly presence of recruit-sized *Pelvetiopsis*, rather than the appearance of new individuals from month to month.

Additional sampling

The following biotic factors were measured because of their potential to confound *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment among plots, and/or treatments: invertebrate grazers, proximity of adult *Pelvetiopsis* thalli, and reproductive condition of *Pelvetiopsis*. Additionally, abiotic factors including daily climate, temperature and humidity, ambient light, geologic characterization, and water flow were measured to determine if the plots were placed in an unbiased fashion, to understand environmental variability among treatment types, and to characterize the local environment.

Invertebrate grazer composition

Grazing pressure was estimated monthly to account for differences among plots due to invertebrate grazer composition. Visible motile invertebrates were counted to species level within a 0.25 m diameter circle (area = 0.05 m^2) placed in the center of the plot, allowing for a buffer zone from the plot edge. Small crustaceans (i.e. amphipods, isopods) were not quantified. Cryptic species of limpets and Littorinid snails were grouped due to difficulty distinguishing among species based on field observations; these included the limpets *Lottia digitalis*, *L. paradigitalis*, and *L. austrodigitalis*, and the snails *Littorina scutulata* and *L. plena*.

Proximity of adult Pelvetiopsis thalli

Because dispersal distances of intertidal fucoids are believed to be short (i.e. fewer than 10m; Williams and Di Fiori 1996, Kinlan and Gaines 2003, Coleman and Brawley 2005), the density of adult individuals immediately adjacent to the treatments could influence *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Therefore, *Pelvetiopsis* cover adjacent to the study plots was quantified during peak recruitment in March 2006 to assess the potential availability of *Pelvetiopsis* propagules from individuals in close proximity to the study plots. These data provided spatial information on the extent of *Pelvetiopsis* cover adjacent to the plots, as well as additional reproductive state characteristics at that time of the individuals sampled (see below). Adjacent *Pelvetiopsis* cover was measured by extending the spokes on the RPC hoop 15 cm beyond the outside edge of the hoop, and sampling points at 5,10 and 15 cm along the extended spoke. This survey measured *Pelvetiopsis* cover in a 15cm-wide ring surrounding the study plots. To assess availability of propagule supply relative to adult % cover, the cover of these adjacent adults was combined with mean *Pelvetiopsis* cover from within the plots for the analysis.

Reproductive condition of Pelvetiopsis

To assess the potential for spatial variability in *Pelvetiopsis* propagule supply, the reproductive condition of *Pelvetiopsis* thalli was qualitatively characterized during peak recruitment in March and April 2006 within and adjacent to the plots that included *Pelvetiopsis* (control, *Pelvetiopsis* only, and *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots). Two parameters were measured to assess reproductive state: conceptacle development and level of mucilage. Up to ten individual thalli per plot were examined and assigned a discrete rating from 0-3 (low to high) for each parameter (Table 2). Each plot was then assigned a reproductive condition value that was the mean of the values for the individual thalli in that plot. The reproductive state was also measured for the adult thalli encountered adjacent to the study plots in the adult proximity survey above.

Tuble 2: Tetrenopsis reproductive state rating scheme.			
	Criteria		
Conceptacle			
Developmental			
Stage			
0	None, no bumps whatsoever		
1	Slight appearance of raised bumps, likely not mature		
2	Bumps clearly present, thallus tissue in good condition		
3	Bumps clearly present, thallus tissue deteriorating		
Mucilage Level			
0	Thallus may be wet, but no mucilage present		
1	Mucilage present, but not ubiquitous, and not exuding from entire thallus		
2	Mucilage present on entire thallus, but not abundant		
3	Mucilage so thick that it drips off thallus, and extends between branches		

Table 2. *Pelvetiopsis reproductive state rating scheme*.

Daily climate and wave height

Local sea surface and air temperature data were from the Granite Canyon Marine Pollution Studies Laboratory daily record that is part of SCOOS (Southern California Ocean Observing System), located 1 km south of the study site on the coast. Maximum daily wave height data were downloaded from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's National Data Buoy Center for the Monterey, California buoy #46402 located 27 nautical miles west of Monterey Bay (36°45'11" N 122°25'21" W).

Temperature and humidity

Temperature and humidity in intertidal systems are typically correlated, such that high temperatures occur with reduced humidity, and low temperatures are indicative of high humidity. Temperature and humidity levels within and adjacent to algal cover were measured with iButton temperature/ humidity dataloggers (Dallis/Maxim DS1923 -Humidity and Temperature Logger: 0 to 100% RH and -20°C to 85°C, temperature accuracy $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C) during both sunny and cloudy conditions in March and October 2006. These thermister/hygrochrons are 2cm in diameter and were easily concealed within algal cover. Fifty iButtons were placed in various configurations to compare temperature and humidity levels among the different plots, and among different substrates that included bare rock, and *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia* cover. The iButtons were placed directly beneath algal cover or on bare rock and collected data every fifteen seconds for a minimum of 60 minutes.

Ambient light

Light (scalar spectral irradiance, denoted as $E \cdot \lambda$ was measured using a quantum scalar irradiance sensor with a small head (1.9 cm diameter sensor, Biospherical Instruments QSL-2100). This instrument measures Photosynthetically Active Radiation (PAR) in microEinsteins (μ Em⁻²s⁻¹), (sensitivity to 0.55 μ Ecm⁻²s⁻¹). Data were collected from bare rock, and beneath the cover of *Endocladia* and *Pelvetiopsis* on a sunny day without clouds in March, April and October 2006, during midday and afternoon.

Geological characterization

The dominant directional aspect (strike) and dominant inclination (dip) of each plot was measured using a Brunton geological compass. An unequal distribution of aspects or inclinations among plots and treatments could bias the recruitment results because aspect can cause variation in temperature and desiccation exposure, as well as species distributions (e.g., Kendall et al. 2004). Strike and dip measurements define the geometric orientation of a planar geologic feature (Compton 1962). The strike line runs horizontal to the plane, and is measured in degrees, representing the compass direction the plane faces. The dip is the line on the plane with the steepest inclination, it represents

the number of degrees the surface is below horizontal (0°-90°), where low values indicate an almost flat surface, and high values a steep surface. One measurement was taken for each plot, the variability in the non-flat planar features was averaged out by placing a flat board on the dominant plane. The compass was placed on this surface to take measurements for strike and dip, and magnetic declination was set to 15° .

Water velocity

The study site is located on an exposed shore and the topographic heterogeneity of the rocks cause fluctuations in water flow that may influence Pelvetiopsis recruitment. To account for variability in water velocity among blocks, water flow was quantified using clod cards placed into bare rock areas within the total removal plots during a single high tide cycle in November 2007. These values give an indication of variability in water flow due to factors like rock topography, direction of wave forcing and "exposure" (i.e. sheltered vs. exposed). Water flow was measured only in the total removal plots to avoid clod card dissolution by abrasion from algal cover in the other treatment plots. Clod cards were created using Plaster of Paris (Customs Building Products) and an ice cube tray as a mold, following established methods (Doty 1971, Thompson and Glenn 1994). The Plaster of Paris was mixed with water, poured into the ice cube tray, allowed to form, and once solid, removed and dried in a low temperature oven for 24 hours prior to placing in the field. Clod cards were mounted to small PVC rectangles using aquarium glue, weighed, and placed in the field during low tide. Three clod cards were bolted down in a haphazard arrangement in each of the ten total removal plots. After a single high tide, twelve hours later, the clod cards were removed, dried for 24 hours in the oven,

and re-weighed. To quantify the rate of dissolution of the clod cards at a known velocity, two clod cards from the same batch of cards used in the field were weighed and mounted to a PVC board. The board was then placed in a uni-directional flume filled with salt water that ran at 1 m/s until the clod cards had lost approximately 50% of their mass. The clod cards were removed, dried for 24 hours and re-weighed. The average change in mass at the known velocity was calculated, and used as a reference point for the field-based dissolution rates. This allowed for a very rough estimate of average water velocities in the field relative to the controlled velocity of 1 m/s in the lab.

Data analysis

Response variables including *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, total biotic cover and motile invertebrates were compared using a 3-way Model III blocked analysis of variance (ANOVA) on two dates: March 2006 because it was six months into the experiment and during peak recruitment, and August 2006 because it was near the end of the experiment and the peak recruitment period was over. Random factors included date and block, and treatment was a fixed factor. The experimental design took into consideration assumptions of independence among plots, treatments and blocks; additionally, all sample sizes were equal. Assumptions of normality were evaluated by examining the residuals, and the assumption of homogeneity of variances was tested using a Cochran's C test of equal variance (C=largest $s_i^2/\sum s_i^2$). When needed, data were transformed to meet these assumptions, however in general when replication is equal, the ANOVA is considered robust to differences in variances (Underwood 1997).

An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to evaluate if covariate values for additional variables measured (adult proximity, rock inclination, rock temperature, water flow) could help to explain the variability in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment among treatments, and to verify that the placement of plots was not biased with respect to these variables. In addition to meeting the standard assumptions of ANOVA stated above, the regression assumptions of the presence of a linear relationship, independent samples, normal distributions, and equal variances at each value of the covariate were tested by examining the residuals and using a Cochran's C test. Assumptions considered specific to the ANCOVA included homogeneity of regressions (i.e. equal slopes), and independence of treatment and covariate (McCullough and Nelder 1989, Underwood 1997).

Comparisons of ranked reproductive state among plots were made using a loglikelihood test (Zar 1999). Assumptions for correlation analyses included a normal distribution of Y at each value of X, and that random values of X came from a normal population (Zar 1999). Variability in water flow was compared among and within blocks using variance components (Vaughn and Corballis 1969, Winer et al. 1991, Graham and Edwards 2001).

RESULTS

The natural system at Soberanes Point was dominated by intertidal macroalgae. Macroalgal cover in the unmanipulated control plots occupied from 50%-70% of primary space during the one-year study period, and was dominated by *Endocladia* and *Pelvetiopsis* (Fig. 3). Bare space ranged from 10-30%, and sessile invertebrates occupied about 20% of primary space. There was a seasonal trend in the relationship between *Endocladia* cover and bare space: in winter months (November 2005-March 2006) *Endocladia* cover was reduced and bare space increased; during the summer months (April-August 2006), *Endocladia* cover increased and available bare space was lower. Sessile invertebrate cover, *Pelvetiopsis* cover, and cover of other algal species in the control plots did not change greatly during the course of the study.



Fig. 3. The natural system: monthly biotic cover in the Control plots, October 2005-October 2006. Algal cover was dominant: total algal cover (*Endocladia, Pelvetiopsis*, and other algae) occupied from 50 to 70% of primary space. Values are monthly means. Sessile invertebrate cover was dominated by the barnacles *Tetraclita rubescens* and *Pollicipes polymerus*, and the mussel *Mytilus californianus*, and occupied from 15-25% of bare space.

Sea surface and air temperature varied seasonally. Daily climate records from Granite Canyon indicated the coolest air temperatures were during the mid to late spring when the seven-day average air temperature did not exceed 15°C between March and May 2006; the warmest average air temperatures occurred during late fall/winter 2005 and summer 2006 (Fig. 4). The coolest sea surface temperatures (10-12 °C) occurred during early summer, and the warmest water temperatures (12-16 °C) were during late summer to fall 2006. Maximum daily wave height was greatest during the winter season (November 2005-February 2006), intermediate from March-June 2006, and reduced from July-September 2006 (Fig. 4).

The temporal variability of *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment and total biotic cover varied among the different treatments (Fig. 5). *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment did not vary among treatments on the dates tested, however it was highest in the treatments with the lowest cover (i.e. there was more available substrate in the *Pelvetiopsis* plots, *Endocladia* plots, and Total Removal plots). Recruitment was highest in May 2006, this was also the period of coolest air temperatures (see Fig. 4). To examine temporal differences among treatments during the course of the experiment, mean data were compared on two dates: March 2006, because it was well into the course of the study and occurred during peak *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, and late summer in August 2006, to evaluate if any differences persisted after five months. In general, there was no significant effect of treatment on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment on the March and August 2006 dates (Table 3, Appendix B, $F_{4,10}$ =1.14, *P*=0.45), but total biotic cover did vary among treatments. Dominant invertebrates also varied among treatments and blocks, and differences among dates


Fig. 4. Local climate and wave height. A. Weekly air and sea surface temperatures measured at shoreline. Reduced springtime temperatures from March to May, 2006 indicated by the shaded bar. B. Maximum daily offshore wave height from NOAA buoy # 46042 (Monterey Bay).

existed for some invertebrates (summarized in Table 3, for complete ANOVA tables see Appendix B, also discussed in more detail below in invertebrate discussion and in Figs. 10-11).

Pelvetiopsis limitata recruitment peaked (values were > $10/0.2 \text{ m}^2$) during March to May 2006, and July 2006 (Fig. 5a). This springtime peak in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment

was not evident in the plots with the highest biotic cover (in general, >50%): the *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* and control plots had low recruitment throughout the study. Cumulative recruitment from January to October 2006 was highest in the *Pelvetiopsis* plots, the *Endocladia* plots, and the total removal plots (Table 4). Cumulative recruitment data from October-December 2005 were not included to allow time for propagule dispersal to total removal plots following the November 2005 clearings.



Fig. 5. Monthly *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment and total biotic cover by treatment. Mean differences among treatments were compared on two dates: March and August 2006, indicated by the open arrows on the x axis. 5a. *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (<1cm tall). Values above the symbols indicate total recruitment for each sampling date in all treatments. 5b. Total biotic cover of all living organisms except encrusting algae. Dashed lines indicate the dates temperatures were compared between algal cover and rock (April, May, and October, 2006); solid lines indicate the dates light levels were compared (March and October, 2006) (see Table 5).

Peak *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment from March to May 2006 coincided with the coolest daytime air temperatures during the study period (see Fig. 4).

Total biotic cover (all living sessile organisms except encrusting algae) was consistently different among treatments (Fig. 5b and Table 3). In general, control plots had the highest

biotic cover (because sessile invertebrates

monthly recruitment and total biotic cover data. *P* values for two way, model III ANOVA results, trt=treatment (fixed), block (random), date (random). *P* values correspond to panels in Figure 5; complete ANOVA tables can be found in Appendix A, post-hoc comparisons are given in the text.

Table 3. Analysis of variance results for

	Response Variable				
	Total				
	Biotic				
	Recruitment	Cover			
Factor	(Fig. 5a)	(Fig. 5b)			
TRT	0.45	0.01			
BLOCK	0.09	< 0.01			
DATE	0.48	0.99			
TRT*DATE	0.18	0.02			
Factor TRT BLOCK DATE TRT*DATE	(Fig. 5a) 0.45 0.09 0.48 0.18	(Fig. 5b) 0.01 <0.01 0.99 0.02			

were not removed), followed by *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots, *Endocladia* plots, *Pelvetiopsis* plots, and total removal plots. All treatments had significantly different mean biotic cover except *Endocladia* and *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots (Table 3, Appendix B, $F_{4,10}$ =16.29, P=0.01; Ryan's Q multiple comparison test). Note the increase and subsequent decrease in biotic cover in the total removal plots during March-April 2006 that resulted from recruitment of the ephemeral alga, *Porphyra perforata*. Due to the striking co-occurrence of *Porphyra* and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment during this period, *Porphyra* cover was left undisturbed until April 2006 sampling was completed. The relationship between *Porphyra* cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment is discussed in further detail below. The significant interaction between date and treatment in the analysis was caused by the increased *Porphyra* was excluded from the analysis.

	Cumulative Pelvetiopsis recruitment
	(n=10 plots, sampled for monthly from
Treatment	JanOct. 2006)
Pelvetiopsis	796
Endocladia	689
Total Removal	545
Pelvetiopsis+Endocladia	408
Control	372

Table 4. Cumulative and mean *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (January-October 2006) in the different treatments.

Due to the obvious differences in total biotic cover among treatments, and the conspicuous recruitment of *Pelvetiopsis* to low cover treatments, the relationship between mean total biotic cover and maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was compared in each plot (Fig. 6a). Maximum values of *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment were used because they represent the ultimate capacity of the organism to respond to cover; mean total biotic cover was used because it gives a good representation of biotic cover in the plots during the course of the study. The highest maximum recruitment (>50 recruits per plot) occurred in plots with <50% total biotic cover. At mean biotic cover levels >70%, maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at intermediate cover levels was the same for cumulative and mean recruitment. Additionally, high *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (20-55 recruits per plot) did occur at relatively low total biotic cover (<10%) in the total removal plots. These occurrences of maximum recruitment were during the March-April 2006 *Porphyra* recruitment event noted above.

Increased *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was found with greater cover of adult *Pelvetiopsis* within and adjacent to the study plots (Fig. 6b). At low levels of adult cover



Fig. 6. Relationship between biotic cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (all months combined). 6a. Relationship between total biotic cover and maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (maximum=highest monthly value during the experiment), Pearson's grand correlation: r_{48} =-0.16, *P*=0.27. 6b. Relationship between proximity of adult *Pelvetiopsis* (sum of *Pelvetiopsis* cover within plots and 15cm adjacent to plots) and maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, Pearson's grand correlation: r_{48} =0.39, *P*=0.005. (i.e. less than 10%), maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment did not exceed 20 per plot; above this level, *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was highly variable but could exceed as many as 50 recruits per plot. Because the naturally occurring mean amount of *Pelvetiopsis* cover is about 30% (see Fig. 2), it is difficult to predict the effects of *Pelvetiopsis* cover at levels greater than 50%.

The presence of algal cover reduced mean air temperature relative to bare rock by up to 8°C and mean humidity by up to 40% when measured in April, May and October 2006 (Table 5, indicated by dashed line in Fig. 5b). Mean temperature was lowest beneath *Pelvetiopsis* canopies, slightly higher beneath *Endocladia* canopies, and highest on bare rock. Mean humidity levels were highest beneath algal canopies and lowest on bare rock (Table 5). Light levels were reduced under algal cover relative to bare rock,

Table 5. Mean (±SE) temperature, humidity and light levels (in PAR, photosynthetically active radiation)
under different types of algal cover and on bare rock at different times of year and day.	

	Temperature (°C)			
	April	May	October	
	4/18/06	5/16/06	10/8/06	
	8:30-9:30	9:00-10:00	15:00-16:00	
Sensor location				
Pelvetiopsis canopy	11.4 (0.5)	15.7 (0.8)	18.0 (0.5)	
Endocladia canopy	13.1 (1.1)	18.5 (1.0)	20.5 (0.5)	
Bare rock	16.8 (1.7)	23.9 (0.9)	24.8 (0.6)	
		Humidity (%)		
	April	May	October	
	4/18/06	5/16/06	10/8/06	
	8:30-9:30	9:00-10:00	15:00-16:00	
Sensor location				
Pelvetiopsis canopy	95.5 (2.5)	99.2 (1.2)	89.9 (1.7)	
Endocladia canopy	99.1 (1.9)	103.9 (1.91)	92.2 (1.3)	
Bare rock	60.6 (2.4)	57.7 (3.7)	65.0 (1.9)	
	PAR (<i>p</i>	$(Em^{-2}s^{-1})$		
	3/24/06	10/22/06		
Sensor location	15:00	12:00		
Pelvetiopsis canopy	11.4 (1.8)	44.3 (13.4)		
Endocladia canopy	13.6 (1.7)	47.2 (7.7)		
Bare rock	646.4 (16.2)	1135.1 (70.3)		

but the light meter was unable to distinguish differences in light among algal species because the spherical head was too large to be completely covered by the *Endocladia* canopy (Table 5). Light levels were sampled at midday on March 24, 2006 and in the afternoon on October 22, 2006 (indicated by a solid line in Fig. 5b).

The relationship between biotic cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was further explored during the peak recruitment period (March to May 2006, Fig. 5a) because 49% of *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (1,524 individuals) occurred during these three months (Table 4). The total removal plots (n=10) were broken down into categories of "bare" (n=3, total biotic cover <5%) and "*Porphyra*" (n=7, total biotic cover >5%) during this period to evaluate differences in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment among plots with virtually no cover, and plots with low cover (i.e. the total removal plots that had *Porphyra* recruit to them). Mean *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment varied with total biotic cover of the treatments (Fig. 7). In



Fig. 7. Peak *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment: effect of treatments and their associated biotic cover on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Data presented are mean values from March, April and May, 2006. Data from Total Removal plots were separated into "bare" and "*Porphyra*" categories to account for plots in which *Porphyra* cover was present during early spring 2006.

treatments with very low total biotic cover (i.e. <5%, bare plots) and high biotic cover (>50%, *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots, control plots), *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was reduced (~5 recruits/plot). At intermediate levels of total biotic cover (10-40%, *Porphyra* plots, *Pelvetiopsis* plots, *Endocladia* plots), *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was three times higher (~15 recruits/plot). Due to unequal sample sizes, these results were not analyzed.

The springtime recruitment (March-May 2006) of *Porphyra* to the total removal plots provided an opportunity to understand the relationship between total biotic cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at cover levels below 50%. There was a positive relationship between biotic cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment in March 2006 (r_8 =0.65, P=0.04) (Fig. 8). In April and May 2006 this relationship was also positive, but not



Fig. 8. *Porphyra* cover relative to *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment in total removal plots during peak recruitment (March, April, May 2006, n=10 plots/month).

significant (April: r_8 =0.014, P=0.70; May: r_8 =0.50, P=0.14). Recruitment in the total removal plots with <10% cover did not exceed 20 recruits/plot, whereas when *Porphyra* cover was >10%, recruitment reached up to 55 recruits/plot. The association between *Porphyra* cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was very striking: high densities of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits were concentrated immediately below and adjacent to *Porphyra* cover (Fig. 9).



Fig. 9. Pelvetiopsis recruitment co-occurred with Porphyra cover (March 2006).

The dominant invertebrate grazer groups and temporal variability in invertebrate grazers among the different treatments are highlighted in Table 6 and Fig. 10. Mean invertebrate densities were compared among treatments on two dates (March and August



Fig. 10. Motile invertebrate density by treatment (monthly). 10a. All limpets combined, which included all *Lottia* spp. (see Table 6 for breakdown). 10b. *Lottia digitalis/Lottia paradigitalis*. 10c. *Lottia scabra*. 10d. *Littorina keenae* + *Littorina scutulata/Littorina plena*.

2006) similar to the recruitment and biotic cover data (indicated by arrows on the x axis in Fig. 10). Limpets and littorinid snails comprised 95% of the motile invertebrate assemblage (limpets=78%, littorinid snails=17%, Table 6). Lottia digitalis, Lottia austrodigitalis and Lottia paradigitalis dominated the limpet composition (43%), (these three species were combined for analyses because of the difficulty of distinguishing them in the field), followed by Lottia scabra (35%). Mean density of combined limpets (Lottia digitalis, Lottia paradigitalis, Lottia austrodigitalis and Lottia scabra) varied among treatments when compared in March and August 2006 (Table 7, Fig. 10a, Appendix B, $F_{4,10}=11.04$, P=0.02); limpets were more abundant in plots with low biotic cover (i.e. high available space: total removal plots and *Pelvetiopsis* plots) than in plots with high biotic cover (i.e. limited available space: control plots). This pattern was the same for differences in mean Lottia digitalis/ Lottia paradigitalis and Lottia scabra among treatments (Fig. 10b, 10c, Appendix B, Lottia digitalis / Lottia paradigitalis $F_{4,10}$ =6.00, P=0.06; Lottia scabra $F_{4,10}=6.54$, P=0.05). Littorina scutulata/Littorina plena + Littorina keenae did not vary among treatments when compared in March and August 2006 (Fig. 10d, Appendix B, $F_{4,10}$ =2.962, P=0.16).

To better understand the relationship between total biotic cover and the highest limpet abundances, the maximum abundance of the dominant grazer group (*Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis/austrodigitalis*) was plotted against total biotic cover. Total biotic cover had a negative effect on the maximum abundance of the dominant grazer group, *Lottia digitalis / Lottia paradigitalis* (Fig. 11a). The same pattern existed when total biotic cover was compared with maximum density of total motile invertebrates. If

Mobile Invertebrate Species	% Composition	Number
Lottia digitalis /L. paradigitalis	42.7	3,608
Lottia scabra	35.22	2,976
Littorina scutulata/L. plena	16.88	1,426
Littorina keenae	1.99	168
Lottia pelta	1.96	166
Nuttalina californica	0.27	23
Lottia limatula	0.22	19
Nucella emarginata	0.21	18
Tegula funebralis	0.17	14
Lepidochitona sp.	0.13	11
Mopalia sp.	0.12	10
Hemigrapsus sp.	0.07	6
Nucella canaliculata	0.04	3
unknown limpet	0.01	1
Total	100	8,449

Table 6. Percentage composition and abundance of motile invertebrates, January-October 2006.

Table 7. Analysis of covariance results for differences in maximum recruitment. The final model compared the regression slopes for proximity of adult *Pelvetiosis* and rock inclination with maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment results.

Source	Degrees of	Type III	Mean	<i>F</i> -	<i>P</i> -
	freedom	Sum of	square	value	value*
		Squares			
Model	2	21693.5	10846.7	32.11	0.000
Adult proximity	1	6129.8	6129.8	18.15	0.000
Rock inclination	1	2184.1	2184.1	6.47	0.014
Error	48	16215.5	337.8		

* All covariate*trt interactions were nonsignificant (P>0.25). Nonsignificant factors (P>0.25) were left out of the model; they included treatment, block, temperature, and water flow.

grazers were to confound *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, this would likely occur at the lower cover levels because this is when grazer density was highest. Due to the co-occurrence of 1) the highest grazer abundances at low cover levels, and 2) substantial *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at low cover levels, the relationship between mean *Lottia digitalis/ Lottia paradigitalis* and maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was further explored (Fig. 11b). There was no striking pattern of maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment relative to *Lottia digitalis/ Lottia paradigitalis* density, however, maximum *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was high (> 20 recruits per plot) at high grazer densities (up to 20 per plot). *Pelvetiopsis limitata* recruitment did not exceed 20 recruits/plot at grazer levels above 20 per plot.

There was a significant block effect for all response variables including cover, total limpets, *Lottia digitalis/ Lottia paradigitalis, Lottia scabra*, and *Littorina* spp. (P<0.05 for all variables, except *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, *P*=0.09, Table 3, Appendix B).

Of the factors that were measured to evaluate potential differences among treatments that could have confounded the recruitment results, adult proximity was the only one that varied significantly among treatments; temperature and humidity, inclination, aspect, reproductive condition, and light did not vary (Table 8). The only difference in adult proximity was between the *Endocladia* (lowest) and the *Pelvetiopsis* (highest) plots. This difference was predictable because the *Endocladia* plots were intentionally devoid of *Pelvetiopsis*, while the *Pelvetiopsis* plots had no *Pelvetiopsis* removed from them. Furthermore, note that although *Endocladia* plots had low values for adult proximity, they still had higher *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment than other treatments



Fig. 11. Patterns of Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis density relative to biotic cover and Pelvetiopsis recruitment. 11a. Relationship between total biotic cover and Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis density, Pearson's grand correlation: r_{48} =-0.61, P<0.001. 11b. Relationship between Lottia digitalis/paradigitalis density and Pelvetiopsis recruitment, Pearson's grand correlation: r_{48} =0.05, P=0.76.

with higher values for adult proximity (i.e. *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots, control plots, see Fig. 5a and Fig. 7).

An ANCOVA was used to evaluate if covariate values for adult proximity, rock inclination, rock temperature, and water flow could help to explain variability in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment among treatments. Maximum recruitment during the course of the study was used as a response variable, and was compared among treatments in a full ANCOVA model. Non-significant factors and interactions (P>0.25) were removed from the model; the final ANCOVA model included adult proximity, and inclination (Table 9). Both adult proximity and inclination had a significant, positive effect on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (adult proximity $F_{1.50}$ =32.11, *P*<0.000, inclination $F_{1.50}$ =18.15, *P*=0.104). However, ultimately, accounting for the effect of adult proximity on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment in the ANCOVA did not resolve any recruitment differences among treatments (i.e. treatment remained a non-significant factor even once covariances in adult proximity and inclination were accounted for).

The following factors did not vary among treatments, and will not be considered further: mean reproductive condition, mean temperature and humidity when measured on bare rock, directional aspect of rock faces, and mean rock inclination. There was no difference in reproductive condition among treatments, both within plots (log-likelihood ratio, April: G=4.23, P>0.995, df=16 May: G=5.27, P>0.975, df=14) and adjacent to plots (log-likelihood ratio, G=9.94, P>0.999, df=36), suggesting that there was no bias in the distribution of the plots and treatments relative to reproductive *Pelvetiopsis* thalli (see Table 8). Mean temperature and humidity of bare rock among treatments ranged from

	Motile Invertebrate Group					
Factor	Total <i>Lottia</i> spp. (Fig. 10a)	Lottia digitalis/ Lottia paradigitalis/ Lottia austrodigitalis (Fig. 10b)	Lottia scabra (Fig. 10c)	Littorina scutulata/ Littorina plena+Littorina keenae (Fig. 10d)		
TRT	0.02	0.06	0.05	0.16		
BLOCK	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01		
DATE	0.01	0.06	0.02	0.82		
TRT*DATE	0.79	0.52	0.83	0.60		

Table 8. Analysis of variance results for motile invertebrate data. *P* values for two way, model III ANOVA results, trt=treatment (fixed), block (random), date (random). *P* values correspond to panels in Figure 10; complete ANOVA tables can be found in Appendix A.

Table 9. Differences in physical factors among treatment types: mean (±SE) temperature, humidity, inclination, aspect, proximity of adult *Pelvetiopsis*, and reproductive condition.

Treatment	Temperature	Humidity	Inclination	Aspect	Adult <i>Pelvetiopsis</i> Proximity	Pelvetiopsis Reproductive Condition (within plots)	Pelvetiopsis Reproductive Condition (adjacent to plots)
Туре	°C	%	(0-90°)	(0-360°)	(% cover)	(rated 0-3)	(rated 0-3)
Total Removal	18.7 (0.2)	74.3 (0.8)	21.2 (1.3)	171.0 (31.7)	19.0 (3.2)	*	1.9 (0.1)
Pelvetiopsis	18.0 (0.2)	77.7 (1.0)	30.0 (5.5)	232.6 (21.6)	28.3 (6.3)	2.6 (0.1)	2.1 (0.2)
Endocladia	17.9 (0.2)	78.3 (1.1)	29.9 (4.9)	176.3 (23.2)	7.6 (1.9)	*	1.7 (0.3)
Pelvetiopsis +							
Endocladia	18.2 (0.1)	76.9 (0.6)	18.2 (3.5)	202.1 (36.0)	15.6 (2.5)	2.3 (0.2)	2.0 (0.2)
Control	18.0 (0.2)	78.3 (0.9)	29.3 (6.2)	116.4 (28.9)	18.0 (3.9)	1.8 (0.3)	1.7 (0.3)
* No data collected baceuse Reluctionsis was not included in these treatments							

* No data collected because *Pelvetiopsis* was not included in these treatments.

17.9-18.7°C and 74-78%; it was therefore assumed the treatment and plot locations were distributed randomly with regard to temperature and humidity conditions (see Table 8). The directional aspect of the plots was uniformly distributed among treatments, and therefore did not bias the recruitment results associated with the different treatments. Additionally, because inclination did not vary among treatments, it was unlikely to bias the recruitment results (Table 8).

The blocked factor explained 76.6% of the variability in water flow, suggesting that the spatial variability in water flow was highly dynamic, and that changes in water flow across small spatial scales (i.e. distances of 3 m) were likely greater than differences in water flow would be among treatments (variance components, Appendix A). Although

exposure to waves was not measured for individual plots, it was assumed to be highly variable throughout the site, and using the blocked experimental design may have helped account for the impact of this variability on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment.

DISCUSSION

The important and novel result from this study is an understanding of how the amount of biotic cover present on the rock influences *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. In particular, the facilitative effect of biogenic cover on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at low cover levels was highlighted by the appearance of *Porphyra* in the total removal plots. The ephemeral life history of *Porphyra* that was linked to high recruitment in the total removal plots could play a critical part in determining the distribution of *Pelvetiopsis*, particularly in the context of successional responses to disturbance. In this case, it is the occurrence of different algal life histories that has the capacity to positively affect *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment because ephemeral species like *Porphyra* may be more tolerant of stressful environmental variables associated with bare space, thereby modifying the habitat and ameliorating the conditions for *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Additionally, the peak recruitment of the foliar phase of *Porphyra* occurs during the winter months (in response to short day lengths, as studied in Baja, California, Pacheco-Ruiz et al. 2005), suggesting that the appearance of *Porphyra* in the months just preceding *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment has the potential to influence *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment on an annual basis.

The ubiquitous effect of biotic cover on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment is further supported by the observation that the springtime *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment peak was only evident in the single species plots with lower cover, and not in the plots with higher cover levels (see Fig. 5a, 5b). The experimental manipulation of species in the treatments, and subsequent reduction of biotic cover in some treatments, revealed a peak in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment that would have been missed in a mensurative survey. The magnitude of this

effect, where *Pelvetiopsis* was regularly three times higher in treatments with intermediate levels of biotic cover than in very low or very high cover treatments, supports the idea that the dynamics governing the occurrence of optimal habitat (i.e. available bare space in combination with biotic cover) are key to understanding what influences the survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits. Other research in temperate intertidal systems has emphasized the importance of so-called "gaps" to successful colonization by fucoid algae (e.g., Worm and Chapman 1998). These results, in combination with the understanding of how *Porphyra* cover facilitates *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at low levels, help to clarify how cover impacts *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at a variety of levels.

The relationship between biotic cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, whereby recruitment is facilitated at low levels of cover and inhibited at high levels of cover, supports the interactive model of how abundance of algal cover affects recruitment proposed in Fig. 1. The relative importance of facilitative and competitive processes to community structure during stressful circumstances has been emphasized in salt marsh ecosystems (where stress occurs along salinity gradients, e.g., Bertness and Callaway 1994), in alpine ecosystems (stress gradients across elevations, e.g., Choler et al. 2001), and in terrestrial forests (temporal stress gradients in water supply among El Niño/La Niña years, e.g., Gutierez et al. 2007). Understanding the balance between positive and negative interactions can help to clarify which factors determine the distribution of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits, and the context of when these factors will be important. For example, consider the prediction that when environmental stress is high, positive

competitive interactions will prevail (e.g., Bertness and Callaway 1994). In the context of this study, environmental stress is highest when biotic cover is low or nonexistent, and therefore facilitation can increase *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. With increased biotic cover, environmental stress decreases, and recruitment is reduced, likely via competition for bare space, or preemption (e.g., Vadas et al. 1992). Understanding the relative effects of positive and negative interactions on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment can inform models of population dynamics, and improve predictions of what determines *Pelvetiopsis* distribution.

The effect of individual algal species on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was highlighted by 1) similar recruitment among *Pelvetiopsis* plots and *Endocladia* plots, and 2) the striking influence of *Porphyra* cover in the total removal plots. The similarity in recruitment among the single species plots suggests that the individual, specific characteristics of the biogenic structure of *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia* do not affect *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. However, although there was no detectable difference in *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment between *Pelvetiopsis* and *Endocladia* plots, the *Pelvetiopsis* plots did generally have slightly higher recruitment. This boost in recruitment could be the result of increased propagule supply from the higher cover of adult *Pelvetiopsis* within and adjacent to these plots relative to *Endocladia* plots, or other factors. The influence of propagule supply is further supported by the ANCOVA analysis that identified adult *Pelvetiopsis* proximity as a significant (positive) covariate with *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Presence of adult fucoids has been previously shown to have important dramatic effects on population recovery following disturbances, especially in

extreme cases like after the Exxon Valdez oil spill in Alaska (DeVogelaere and Foster 1994) as well as in response to experimental disturbances (e.g., Murray et al. 1999, Speidel et al. 2001).

The subtle potential for individual species to influence *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment may be more a function of the presence or absence of biogenic structure than of species' identity. The springtime recruitment of *Porphyra* to the total removal plots had such a strong effect on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment that it is difficult to overlook how one species can dramatically impact recruitment success for *Pelvetiopsis*. In this case, the influence of *Porphyra* on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was likely a function of natural history and reduced environmental stress. The coincidence of the timing of recruitment for *Porphyra* and *Pelvetiopsis* emphasizes how the phenological characteristics of individual species may influence species distributions, and the strong association between the *Porphyra* cover and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment suggests that there may be some beneficial aspects of *Porphyra* cover to survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits.

Researchers have found increased survival of fucoid zygotes outplanted under algal canopies, suggesting that reduced temperature and desiccation stress associated with algal cover may be one mechanism for increased survival (Hay 1981, Brawley and Johnson 1991). The negative effect of temperature stress (including desiccation) on intertidal fucoid survival and distribution is supported by research that indicates the upper distributional limit of fucoid algae increases during cool years, and decreases during warm years (Hawkins and Hartnoll 1985). Additional examples of sensitivity to temperature and desiccation stress include the presence of dehydrin-like proteins in

fucoid algae (Li et al. 1998), and reduced survival or growth of embryos under increased desiccation stress (Brawley and Johnson 1991, Davison et al. 1993, Brawley et al. 1999, Ladah et al. 2003). This evidence supports the idea that the increased survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits associated with individual species may be more a function of the presence of biogenic habitat than of the morphological or biological characteristics of individual species. Further consideration should be given to the potential for biogenic structure to provide an associational refuge for *Pelvetiopsis* recruits (e.g., Menge 1976, Bertness and Callaway 1994, Stachowicz 2001), whereby recruits are commonly found under algal cover because this habitat protects them from invertebrate grazing by making the recruits inaccessible to grazers (another example of this is recruitment to cracks in rocks).

The significant block effect found in the 2-way ANOVA analysis of cover and invertebrates (as well as a marginal block effect in the recruitment analysis) offers additional evidence that small-scale environmental effects have a substantial effect on intertidal organisms (Underwood 1997).

The effect of algal diversity on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was mediated by the relationship between the number of species included in a treatment and its associated total biotic cover. In general, it appears that in stressful systems (i.e. the high intertidal), species occupy more space when grown in combination than when grown individually (see Fig. 5b). At high cover levels, or when bare space is limited (i.e. in the *Pelvetiopsis* + *Endocladia* plots and control plots), *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment was reduced. The importance of competition for limiting resources (in this case bare space) has been well

documented, and in this system, it may be that the competitive, negative interactions occurring in the plots with high cover levels and higher diversity overcome the benefits of the presence of biogenic habitat for *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment.

An additional effect of diversity relates to the natural history traits of individual species and is highlighted by the springtime appearance of *Porphyra* during a critical period for *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. The potential for ephemeral species such as *Porphyra* to modify habitat and influence successional processes is well understood in both terrestrial and marine habitats. In this case, the influence of *Porphyra* on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment is perhaps best understood in the context of disturbance theory (e.g., Connell and Slatyer 1977, Sousa 1984), whereby disturbance opens up new space, and the ability of later successional species (i.e. *Pelvetiopsis*) to colonize the new space can be enhanced by ephemeral species like *Porphyra*.

The negative relationship between biotic cover and the density of motile invertebrates indicates that if grazers were going to control the abundance of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits, it would be most evident at relatively low cover levels, that is, when grazer numbers are the highest. However, the effect of environmental stress on algae at low cover levels (i.e. higher temperatures and reduced humidity when algae are absent, see Table 5) is likely driving the pattern of reduced *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment at the lowest cover. High densities of invertebrates (i.e. >20 per plot) at low cover levels could further reduce recruitment, but simultaneously high numbers of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits found in plots with high grazer densities suggests that grazers are not the primary determinant of the distribution of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits. The common experimental method of excluding

grazers and tracking algal succession in their absence would help to clarify the effect of grazers at known densities since herbivory is not supposed to be important under conditions of high stress. Additionally, it appears that the algae may actually control grazer density by modifying the availability of bare space, this pattern has been previously identified in other systems (Underwood and Jernakoff 1981). In other parts of the world, researchers working in intertidal systems have indicated non-trophic positive interactions to be important in structuring communities, and have shown limited effects of grazers on fucoid recovery (e.g., in New Zealand (*Hormosira banksii* (Turner) Decaisne): Lilley and Schiel 2006, Schiel et al. 2006). In Europe, research indicates a scaled effect of limpets on fucoid algae (e.g., *Ascophyllum nodosum* (Linnaëuš) Le Jolis, where growth is unaffected at low limpet densities and inhibited at high limpet densities (Davies et al. 2007).

The results from this study can be integrated to inform a model of the positive and negative factors that influence *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. This model should focus on total biotic cover, which will have a positive effect at low levels (i.e. 5%-40%) and a negative effect at cover greater than 50%. Adult *Pelvetiopsis* proximity positively affects *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, with dramatic increases occurring above 10% cover. This factor is likely important in large part due to the limited dispersal potential of fucoid algae evidenced by population genetic differentiation at small (less than 5 m²) spatial scales (Williams and Di Fiori 1996, Kinlan and Gaines 2003, Coleman and Brawley 2005). Likewise the highest recruitment occurred in plots with mean rock inclination angles >15°, and supports the idea that prolonged desiccation stress may occur on

surfaces with low inclination angles. Invertebrate grazer density may negatively affect *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, but this likely only occurs at high densities (>20 per plot). Finally, the presence and identity of individual species is an important consideration in any study because of the relative capacity for some species to modify stressful habitats (e.g., *Porphyra*), especially following disturbances. The small scale variability in the factors included in this model reinforces the importance of small-scale processes to *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. Factors not included in the model did not show any striking pattern in relation to *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment; these were aspect, water flow, light availability, and the spatial distribution of reproductive condition.

Additional consideration should be given to understanding the timing of peak recruitment; this study did not adequately characterize reproductive output through time to understand the relationship between reproductive output and peak recruitment. Given that peak recruitment coincided with the timing of the coolest air temperatures at the study site, *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment could be linked to local climatic conditions, especially considering that reduced environmental stress may increase embryo survival (e.g., Brawley and Johnson 1991). In particular, the period of cool temperatures along the central California coast in the springtime is associated with nearshore fog that occurs during upwelling periods. Current research indicates that changes in the timing of upwelling can influence primary productivity of plankton, as well as rocky intertidal communities. For example, delays in the timing of upwelling in Oregon in 2005 due to low wind stress reduced primary productivity and resulted in decreased recruitment of rocky intertidal invertebrates (Barth et al. 2007). The impact of variability in upwelling

on nearshore populations of fucoid algae is unknown, however the co-occurrence of peak *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment with the coolest air temperatures suggests that understanding the role of climate in regulating recruitment of fucoid populations could be an avenue for future research. In addition to the influence of nearshore fog, the reduced maximum wave height that occurred during the period of warmer summer temperatures could also have amplified the effect of desiccation on survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits.

CONCLUSIONS

The results from this study provide insight to the relative roles of positive and negative factors in determining species distributions in stressful habitats. The interactive effect of biogenic structure on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment (positive/facilitative effect at intermediate cover levels, negative/competitive effect at very low and high cover levels) characterizes how a combination of positive and negative interactions influences the distribution of *Pelvetiopsis* by impacting small life history stages. While invertebrate grazers have commonly been shown to negatively affect algal community structure, this study indicates that high grazer density and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment co-occur, and that grazers reduce or prevent *Pelvetiopsis* establishment only at very high densities (greater than 20/0.2 m²). The ameliorative effect of algal cover on desiccation stress is likely a key component to predicting the survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment. A model that incorporates the balance between positive and negative interactions provides the best explanation for the recruitment patterns evident in this study.

The dramatic influence of algal cover on *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment suggests that algae can structure nearshore ecosystems by modifying environmental conditions for small life history stages at low to intermediate levels of cover. Furthermore, the positive influence of ephemeral species of algae like *Porphyra* on the survival of *Pelvetiopsis* recruits highlights how individual species of algae can influence community structure by modifying successional responses to disturbance (i.e. facilitation). The temporal cooccurrence of *Porphyra* and *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment in the springtime provides additional insight to how algal diversity may contribute to increased ecosystem function.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abbott, I.A. and G.J. Hollenberg. 1976. Marine Algae of California. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 844 pp.
- Altieri, A.H., B.R. Silliman and M.D. Bertness. 2007. Hierarchical organization via a facilitation cascade in intertidal cordgrass bed communities. American Naturalist **169**:195-206.
- Barth, J.A, B.A. Menge, J. Lubchenco, F. Chan, J.M. Bane, A.R. Kirincich, M.A. McManus, K.J. Nielsen, S.D. Pierce and L. Washburn. 2007. Delayed upwelling alters nearshore coastal ocean ecosystems in the northern California current. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104:3719-3724.
- Bellgrove, A., M.N. Clayton and G.P. Quinn. 1997. Effects of secondarily treated sewage effluent on intertidal macroalgal recruitment processes. Marine Freshwater Research **48**:137-146.
- Berndt, M.L., J.A. Callow, and S.H. Brawley. 2002. Gamete concentrations and timing and success of fertilization in a rocky shore seaweed. Marine Ecology Progress Series **226**:273-285.
- Bertness, M.D and R. Callaway. 1994. Positive interactions in communities. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9:191-193.
- Bertness, M.D., G.H. Leonard, J.M. Levine, P.R. Schmidt, and A.O. Ingraham. 1999. Testing the relative contributions of positive and negative interactions in rocky intertidal communities. Ecology **80**:2711-2726.
- Bracken, M.E. and J.J. Stachowicz. 2006. Seaweed diversity enhances nitrogen uptake via complementary use of nitrate and ammonium. Ecology **87**:2397-2403.
- Brawley, S.H. and L.E. Johnson. 1991. Survival of fucoid embryos in the intertidal zone depends upon developmental stage and microhabitat. Journal of Phycology **27**: 179-186.
- Brawley, S.H., L.E. Johnson, G.A. Pearson, and V. Speransky. 1999. Gamete release at low tide in fucoid algae: Maladaptive or advantageous? American Zoologist **39**:218-229.
- Bruno, J.F. and M.D. Bertness. 2001. Habitat modification and facilitation in benthic marine communities. In: Bertness, M.D, M.E. Hay, and S.D. Gaines (eds.) Marine Community Ecology. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA, pp. 201-218.

- Bruno, J.F. and O'Connor. 2005. Cascading effects of predator diversity and omnivory in a marine food web. Ecology Letters 8:1048-1056.
- Bruno, J.F., J.J. Stachowicz, and M.D. Bertness. 2003. Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends in Ecology and Evolution **18**:119-125.
- Bruno, J.F., K.E. Boyer, J.E. Duffy, S.C. Lee, and J.S. Kertesz. 2005. Effects of species identity and richness on primary production in benthic marine communities. Ecology Letters 8:1165-1174.
- Bustamante, R.H. and G.H. Branch. 1995. Maintenance of and exceptional intertidal grazer biomass in South Africa: Subsidy by subtidal kelps. Ecology **76**:2314-2329.
- Callaway, R.M., L.R. Walker. 1997. Competition and facilitation: A synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. Ecology **78**:1958-1965.
- Carpenter, R.C. and S.L. Williams. 1993. Effects of algal turf canopy height and microscale substratum topography on profiles of flow speed in a coral forereef environment. Limnology and Oceanography **38**:687-694.
- Castilla, J.C. 2000. Roles of experimental marine ecology in coastal management and conservation. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **250**:3-21.
- Chapman, A.R.O. 1995. Functional ecology of fucoid algae: twenty-three years of progress. Phycologia **34**:1-32.
- Cheroske, A. G., S.L. Williams, and R.C. Carpenter. 2000. Effects of physical and biological disturbances on algal turfs in Kaneohe Bay, Hawaii. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **248**:1–34.
- Choler, P., R. Michalet, and R.M. Callaway. 2001. Facilitation and competition on gradients in alpine communities. Ecology **82**:3295-3308.
- Coelho, S.M., J.W. Rijstenbil, and M.T. Brown. 2000. Impacts of anthropogenic stresses on the early development stages of seaweeds. Journal of Aquatic Ecosystem Stress and Recovery **7**:317-333.
- Coleman, M. and S.H. Brawley. 2005. Spatial and temporal variability in dispersal and population genetic structure of a rockpool alga. Marine Ecology Progress Series **300**:63-77.

Compton, R.R. 1962. Manual of field geology. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.

Connell, J.H. 1961. The influence of interspecific competition and other factors on the distribution of the barnacle *Chthamalus stellatus*. Ecology **42**: 710-723.

- Connell, J.H. 1972. Community interactions on marine rocky intertidal shores. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 3:169-192.
- Connell, J.H. and R.O. Slatyer. 1977. Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. American Naturalist **111**:1119-1144.
- Connolly, S.R. and J. Roughgarden. 1998. A latitudinal gradient in Northeast Pacific intertidal community structure: Evidence for an oceanographically based synthesis of marine community theory. American Naturalist **151**:311-326.
- Crain, C.M. and M.D. Bertness 2006. Ecosystem engineering across environmental gradients: Implications for conservation and management. BioScience **56**:211-218.
- Davies, A.J., M.P. Johnson and C.A. Maggs. 2007. Limpet grazing and loss of *Ascophyllum nodosum* canopies on decadal time scales. Marine Ecology Progress Series **339**:131-141.
- Davison, I.R., L.E. Johnson and S.E. Brawley. 1993. Sublethal stress in the intertidal zone: Tidal emersion inhibits photosynthesis and retards development in embryos of the brown algal *Pelvetia fastigiata*. Oecologia **96**:483-492.
- Dayton, P.K. 1971. Competition, disturbance, and community organization: The provision and subsequent utilization of space in a rocky intertidal community. Ecological Monographs **41**:351-389.
- Dayton, P.K. 1975. Experimental evaluation of ecological dominance in a rocky intertidal algal community. Ecological Monographs **45**:137-159.
- Dayton, P.K., V. Currie, T. Gerrodette, B.D. Keller, R. Rosenthal and D. Ven Tresca. 1984. Patch dynamics and stability of some California kelp communities. Ecological Monographs 54:253-289.
- De Vogelaere, A.P and M.S. Foster. 1994. Damage and recovery in intertidal *Fucus* gardneri assemblages following the Exxon Valdez oil spill. Marine Ecology Progress Series **106**:263-271.
- Denny, M. 1995. Predicting physical disturbance: Mechanistic approaches to the study of survivorship on wave-swept shores. Ecological Monographs **65**:371-418.
- Dethier, M.N., S.L. Williams, and A.Freeman. 2005. Seaweeds under stress: manipulated stress and herbivory affect critical life-history functions. Ecological Monographs **75**:403-418.

- Doty, M.S. Measurement of water movement in reference to benthic algal growth. Botanica Marina 14:25-32.
- Dring, M.J. 1987. Light climate in intertidal and subtidal zones in relation to photosynthesis and growth of benthic algae: a theoretical model. In Crawford, R.M.M., ed. Plant Life in Aquatic and Amphibious Habitats. Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 23-34.
- Faul, F., E. Erdfelder, A.G. Lang and A. Buchner. 2007. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behavior Research Methods **39**:175-191.
- Foster, M.S. 1992. How important is grazing to seaweed evolution and assemblage structure in the north-east Pacific? In: John, D.M., Hawkins, S.J., Price, J.H. (Eds.), Plant-Animal Interactions in the Marine Benthos. Clarendon, Oxford, pp. 61-85.
- Foster, M.S., C. Harrold and D.D. Hardin. 1991. Point vs. photo quadrat estimates of the cover of sessile marine organisms. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **146**:193-203.
- Gaylord, B., C.A. Blanchette and M.W. Denny. 1994. Mechanical consequences of size in wave-swept algae. Ecological Monographs **64**:287-313.
- Graham and Edwards 2001. Statistical significance versus fit: estimating the importance of individual factors in ecological analysis of variance. Oikos **93**:505-513.
- Gutiérrez, J.R., M. Holmgren. R. Manrique, and F.A. Squeo. 2007. Reduced herbivore pressure under rainy ENSO conditions could facilitate dryland reforestation. Journal of Arid Environments **68**:322-330.
- Haring, R.N., M.N. Dethier, and S.L. Williams. 2002. Desiccation facilitates waveinduced mortality of the intertidal alga *Fucus gardneri*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 232:75–82.
- Hawkins, S.J. and R.G. Hartnoll. 1985. Factors determining the upper limits of intertida canopy-forming algae. Marine Ecology Progress Series **20**:265-271.
- Hay, M.E. 1981. The functional morphology of turf-forming seaweeds: Persistence in stressful marine habitats. Ecology **62**:739-750.
- Helmuth, B., C.D.G. Harley, P.M. Halpin, M. O'Donnell, G.E. Hofmann, and C.A. Blanchette. 2002. Climate change and latitudinal patterns of intertidal stress. Science **298**:1015-1017.
- Holmgren, M., M. Scheffer, and M.A. Huston. 1997, The interplay of facilitation and competition in plant communities. Ecology **78**:1966-1975.

- Holzinger, A. and C. Lütz. 2006. Algae and UV irradiation: Effects on ultrastructure and related metabolic functions. Micron **37**: 190-207.
- Johnson, L.E. and S.H. Brawley. 1998. Dispersal and recruitment of a canopy-forming intertidal alga: the relative roles of propagule availability and post-settlement processes. Oecologia **117**:517-526.
- Johnson, M.P., S.J. Hawkins, R.G. Hartnoll and T.A. Norton. 1998. The establishment of fucoid zonation on algal-dominated rocky shores: Hypotheses derived from a simulation model. Functional Ecology **12**:259-269.
- Jones, C.G., J.H. Lawton, and M. Shachak. 1997. Positive and negative effects of organisms as physical ecosystem engineers. Ecology **78**:1946-1957.
- Jonnson, P.R., L. Granhag, P.S. Moschella, P. Aberg, S.J. Hawkins, and R.C. Thompson. 2006. Interactions between wave action and grazing control the distribution of intertidal macroalgae. Ecology 87:1169-1178.
- Kendall, M.A., M.T. Burrows, A.J. Southward and S.J. Hawins. 2004. Predicting the effects of marine climate change on the invertebrate prey of the birds of rocky shores. Ibis **146**:40-47.
- Kinlan, B.P. and S.D. Gaines. 2003. Propagule dispersal in marine and terrestrial environments: A community perspective. Ecology **84**:2007-2020.
- Ladah, L., R. Bermudez, G. Pearson, and E. Serrao. 2003. Fertilization success and recruitment of dioecious and hermaphroditic fucoid seaweeds with contrasting distributions near their southern limit. Marine Ecology Progress Series **262**:173-183.
- Levin, S.A. and R.T. Paine. 1974. Disturbance, patch formation, and community structure. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **71**:2744-2747.
- Li, R. and S.H. Brawley. 2004. Improved survival under heat stress in intertidal embryos (Fucus spp.) simultaneously exposed to hypersalinity and the effect of parental thermal history. Marine Biology **144**:205-213.
- Li, R., S.H. Brawley, and T.J. Close. 1998. Proteins immunologically related to dehydrins in fucoid algae. Journal of Phycology **34**:642-650.
- Lilley, S.A, and D.R. Schiel. 2006. Community effects following the deletion of a habitat-forming alga from rocky marine shores. Oecologia **148**:672–681.
- Lubchenco, J. 1978. Plant species diversity in a marine intertidal community: Importance of herbivore food preference and algal competitive abilities. American Naturalist **112**:23-39.

- Lubchenco, J. 1983. Littorina and Fucus: Effects of herbivores, substratum heterogeneity and plant escapes during succession. Ecology **64**:1116-1123.
- McCullough, P. and J.A. Nelder. 1989. Generalized linear models, 2nd ed. London: Chapman and Hall, 532 pp.
- Menge, B. 1976. Organization fo the New England rocky intertidal community: Role of predation, competition, and environmental heterogeneity. Ecological Monographs 46:355-393.
- Menge, B.A., G.W. Allison, C.A. Blanchette, T.M. Farrell, A.M. Olson, T. Turner, and P. van Tamelen. 2005. Stasis or kinesis? Hidden dynamics of a rocky intertidal macrophyte mosaic revealed by a spatially explicit approach. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 314:3-39.
- Murray, S.N., T.G. Denis, J.S. Kido, and J.R. Smith. 1999. Human visitation and the frequency and potential effects of collecting on rocky intertidal populations in southern California marine reserves. CalCOFI Reports 40.
- Nowell, A.R.M and P.A. Jumars. 1984. Flow environments of aquatic benthos. Ecology and Systematics 15:303-328.
- Pacheco-Ruiz, I., G. Bolanos-Arias, J.A. Zertuche-Gonzalez, A. Galvez-Telles and A. Cabello-Pasini. 2005. Propagule release and recruitment in *Porphyra perforata* (Rhodophyta) from Baja, California, Mexico. Botanica Marina 48:90-95.
- Paine, R.T. 1966. Food web complexity and species diversity. American Naturalist 100:65-75.
- Paine, R.T and S.A. Levin. 1981. Intertidal landscapes: disturbance and the dynamics of pattern. Ecological Monographs 51:145–178.
- Rosenberg, L. 2001. Geologic resources and constraints, Monterey County, California: A technical report for the Monterey County 21st century general plan update program.
 Unpublished report to Monterey County Environmental Resource Policy Department.
 Monterey, CA: Monterey County Environmental Resource Policy Department, 167 pp.
- Roughgarden, J., S. Gaines, and H. Possingham. 1988. Recruitment dynamics in complex life cycles. Science 241:1460-1466.
- Schiel, D.R. and D.I. Taylor. 1999. Effects of trampling on a rocky intertidal algal assemblage in southern New Zealand. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **235**:213-235.
- Schiel, D.R. 2004. The structure and replenishment of rocky shore intertidal

communities and biogeographic comparisons. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **300**: 309-342.

- Schiel, D.R., S.A. Wood, R.A. Dunmore, and D.I. Taylor. 2006. Sediment on rocky intertidal reefs: Effects on early post-settlement stages of habitat-forming seaweeds. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **331**:158-172.
- Schoenwaelder, M.E.A., C. Wiencke, M.N. Clayton and K.W. Glombitza. 2003. The effect of elevated UV radiation on Fucus spp. (Fucales, Phaeophyta) zygote and embryo development. Plant Biology **5**:366-377.
- Serrao, E.A., L.A. Alice, and S.H. Brawley. 1999. Evolution of the Fucaceae (Phaeophyceae) inferred from nrDNA. Journal of Phycology **35**:382-394.
- Sousa, W.P. 1979. Experimental investigations of disturbance and ecological succession in a rocky intertidal algal community. Ecological Monographs **49**:227-254.
- Sousa, W.P. 1984. The role of disturbance in natural communities. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 15: 353–391.
- Southward, A.J., S.J. Hawkins and M.T. Burrows. 1995. Seventy years' observations of changes in the distribution and abundance of zooplankton and intertidal organisms in the western English Channel in relation to rising sea temperature. Journal of Thermal Biology **20**:127-155.
- Speidel, M., C.D.G. Harley, and M.J. Wonham. 2001. Recovery of the brown alga *Fucus gardneri* following a range of removal intensities. Aquatic Botany **71**:273-280.
- Stachowicz, J.J. 2001. Mutualism, facilitation and the structure of ecological communities. BioScience **51**:235-246.
- Taylor, D.I. and D.S. Schiel. 2003. Wave-related mortality in zygotes of habitatforming algae from different exposures in southern New Zealand: the importance of 'stickability'. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **290**:229–245
- Thibaut, T., S. Pinedo, X. Torres, and E. Balalesteros. 2005. Long term decline of the populations of Fucales (*Cystoseira* spp. and *Sargassum* spp.) in the Albéres coast (France, Northwestern Mediterranean). Marine Pollution Bulletin **50**:1472-1489.
- Thompson, R.C., B.J. Wilson, M.L. Tobin, A.S. Hill, and S.J. Hawkins. 1996. Biologically generated habitat provision and diversityof rocky shore organisms at a hierarchy of spatial scales. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 202:73-84.

- Thompson, T.L. and E.P. Glenn 1994. Plaster standards to measure water motion. Limnology and Oceanography **39**:1768-1779.
- Underwood, A.J. 1997. Experiments in Ecology: Their logical design and interpretation using analysis of variance. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 522 pp.
- Underwood, A.J. and P. Jernakoff. 1981. Effects of interactions between algae and grazing gastropods on the structure of a low-shore intertidal algal community. Oecologia **48**:221-233.
- Vadas, R.L. W.A. Wright, and S.L. Miller. 1990. Recruitment of *Ascophyllum nodosum*: Wave action as a source of mortality. Marine Ecology Progress Series **61**:263-272.
- Vadas, Sr., R., S. Johnson, and T.A. Norton. 1992. Recruitment and mortality of early post-settlement stages of benthic algae. British Phycological Journal **27**:331-351.
- van den Hoek et al. 1995. Algae: An Introduction to Phycology. Cambridge, U.K: Cambridge University Press, 637 pp.
- Vaughn, M. G. and M.C. Corballis. 1969. Beyond tests of significance: Estimating strength of effects in selected ANOVA designs. Psychological Bulletin 72:204-213.
- Vogel, S. 1981. Life in moving fluids. Boston, MA: Willard Grant Press, 352 pp.
- Wiencke, C., I. Gómez, H. Pakker, A. Flores-Moya, M. Altamirano, D. Hanelt, K. Bischof and F.L. Figueroa. 2000. Impact of UV-radiation on viability, photosynthetic characteristics and DNA on brown algal zoospores: implications for depth zonation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 197:217-229.
- Wieters, E.A. 2005. Upwelling control of positive interactions over mesoscales: a new link between bottom-up and top-down processes on rocky shores. Marine Ecology Progress Series **301**:43-54.
- Williams, S.L and R.C. Carpenter. 1998. Effects of unidirectional and oscillatory water flow on nitrogen fixation (acetylene reduction) in coral reef algal turfs, Kaneohe Bay, Hawaii. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **226**:293-316.
- Williams, S.L. and D.E. Di Fiori. 1996. Genetic diversity and structure in *Pelvetia fastigiata* (Phaeophyta, Fucales): Does a small effective neighborhood size explain fine-scale genetic structure? Marine Biology, **126**:371-382.
- Winer, B.J, D.R. Brown, and K.M. Michels. 1991. Statistical principals in experimental design. New York, NY: McGraw Hill, 928 pp.

Worm, B. and A.R.O. Chapman. 1998. Relative effects of elevated grazing pressure

and competition from a red algal turf on two post-settlement stages of *Fucus* evanescens C. Ag. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology **220**:247-268.

Wright, J.P. and C.G. Jones. 2006. The concept of organisms as ecosystem engineers ten years on: Progress, limitations and challenges. BioScience **56**:203-209.

Zar, J.H. 1999. Biostatistical Analysis, 4th edition. New York, NY: Prentice Hall, 929 pp.
APPENDICES

Appendix A. ANOVA and variance components analysis for water flow based on the percentage weight lost from the clod card experiment. Omega squared (ω^2) represents the percentage variance explained by the source factor. Calculations based on Graham and Edwards (2001).

			Variance			
Source	SS	DF	MS	component	ω ²	
Block	1151.1	7	164.5	71.3	76.6	
Error	239.8	11	21.8	21.8	<u>23.4</u>	

Appendix B. ANOVA tables describing the effects of different factors (block, treatment, date, and treatement x date interaction) on response variables that included: a. *Pelvetiopsis* recruitment, b. total biotic cover, and invertebrate densities: c. total *Lottia* spp., d. *Lottia digitalis + Lottia paradigitalis*, e. *Lottia scabra*, and f. *Littorina scutulata/plena + Litorrina keenae*.

a. Pelvetiopsis Recruitment						
Source	df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	Р	
BLOCK	9	1399.25	155.472	1.76	0.09	
Error	81	7176.45	88.598			
TRT	4	643.6	160.9	1.14	0.45	
Error	4	566.96	141.74			
DATE	1	86.49	86.49	0.61	0.48	
Error	4	566.96	141.74			
TRT * DATE	4	566.96	141.74	1.60	0.18	
Error	81	7176.45	88.598			
b. Total Biotic	Cove	er				
Source	df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	P	
BLOCK	9	7796.84	866.316	3.51	0.00	
Error	81	20018.76	247.145			
TRT	4	52835.44	13208.86	16.29	0.01	
Error	4	3243.76	810.94			
DATE	1	4.00E-02	4.00E-02	0.00	1.00	
Error	4	3243.76	810.94			
TRT * DATE	4	3243.76	810.94	3,28	0.02	
Error	81	20018.76	247.145			
c. Total <i>Lottia</i>	spp.			·····		
Source	df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	<u> </u>	
BLOCK	9	3577.89	397.543	5.50	0.00	
Error	81	5857.01	72.309			
TRT	4	1362.04	340.51	11.04	0.02	
Error	4	123.4	30.85			
DATE	1	650.25	650.25	21.08	0.01	
Error	4	123.4	30.85			
TRT * DATE	4	123.4	30.85	0.43	0.79	
Error	81	5857.01	72.309			

63

d. Lottia digitalis+paradigitalis						
Source	df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	Р	
BLOCK	9	1901.84	211.316	6.09	0.00	
Error	81	2811.16	34.706			
TRT	4	678.04	169.51	6.00	0.06	
Error	4	113	28.25		100	
DATE	1	196	196	6.94	0.06	
Error	4	113	28.25			
TRT * DATE	4	113	28.25	0.81	0.52	
Error	81	2811.16	34.706			

e.	Lottia	scabra			
	Sour	°P	df	55	(1

Source	df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	P
BLOCK	9	760.64	84.516	2.90	0.01
Error	81	2364.36	29.19		
TRT	4	282.44	70.61	6.54	0.05
Error	4	43.2	10.8		·.
DATE	1	169	169	15.65	0.02
Error	4	43.2	10.8		
TRT * DATE	4	43.2	10.8	0.37	0.83
Error	81	2364.36	29.19		

f. Littorina scutulata/plena+Littorina keenae

Source		df	SS (Type III)	MS	F-ratio	P
BLOCK		8	220.6	27.575	2.759	0.01
	Error	72	719.622	9.995		تو
TRT		4	82.067	20.517	2.962	0.159
	Error	4	27.711	6.928		
DATE		1	0.4	0.4	0.058	0.822
	Error	4	27.711	6.928		
TRT * C	ATE	4	27.711	6.928	0.693	0.599
	Error	72	719.622	9.995		